DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

OF COLL	
* * *	à
OF APPLE	7
Clerk of the Court	
Received 04/24/2024 11:46 P Filed 04/24/2024 11:46 PM	M

Appeal No. 23-CM-939

DWAYNE DAVIDSON,

Appellant

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia – Criminal Division 2023 CMD 1954

OPENING BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Adrian E. Madsen, Esq. Bar No. 1032987 8705 Colesville Road, Suite 334 Silver Spring, MD 20910

Tel: (202) 738-2051 Fax: (202) 688-7260

madsen.adrian.eric@gmail.com

D.C. App. R. 28(a)(2)(A) Statement

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the trial court erred by admitting over objection testimony about what a non-testifying WMATA "technician" did—including downloading video footage—under the "business records" exception to the rule against hearsay.
- 2. Whether the admission of testimony from a WMATA supervisor about what a non-testifying WMATA "technician" did violated Mr. Davidson's Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses against him where the supervisor did not witness the actions of the "technician" about which she testified.
- 3. Whether the trial court erred by admitting over objection and finding properly authenticated Washington Metropolitan Transit Authority ("WMATA") footage taken from a Metro train car where the video did not contain any date or time stamp, where the sponsoring witness testified that the "master copy" of the video would contain a date and timestamp, where the sponsoring witness did not personally witness the events depicted, where the sponsoring witness did not personally download or otherwise preserve the footage, and where the sponsoring witness testified that the only reason she believed the footage was recorded on a particular date at a particular time was because someone else told her that.
- 4. Whether the trial court erred by finding that actions creating a "substantial risk of unconsciousness" are sufficient to satisfy "likely to produce death or great

- bodily injury by the use made of it" element of attempted possession of a prohibited weapon under D.C. Code §§ 22-4514(b), -1803.
- 5. Whether the evidence was sufficient to support a conviction for attempted PPW(b) where the trial court found that Mr. Davidson once kicked the complainant in the head, where was no evidence regarding the material of Mr. Davidson's footwear, where the government did not present testimony from any medical expert, where there was no evidence of any lasting effects from the kick, and where the trial court expressly declined to find that Mr. Davidson was the cause of the complainant's injuries because there was evidence that another man kicked the complainant.
- 6. Whether the trial court erred by concluding that the government disproved self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt, a conclusion the trial court rested on its finding that Mr. Davidson subjectively feared imminently bodily harm, but that his belief was objectively unreasonable, where the trial court found that two men were "snatching" Mr. Davidson "up," that the man Mr. Davidson was convicted of assaulting earlier "had his arms around Mr. Davidson, while [another man] [wa]s unfettered swinging at" Mr. Davidson, that "for much of the fight leading up to the incident at issue here for which Mr. Davidson is charged, Mr. Davidson was fighting against both Allen [] and Young []," the complainant, and where

approximately thirty seconds passed between the end of what the trial court characterized as a "fight," and the offending conduct, a kick.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Davidson was charged by information with one count of simple assault in violation of D.C. Code § 22-404 and one count of attempted possession of a prohibited weapon (shod foot) in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4514(b), -1803. R. 1.¹

After rejecting a plea offer extended by the United States, Mr. Davidson proceeded at trial, beginning on October 24, 2023. At trial, the government presented three witnesses, Claribelisse Colon Colon, a Metro passenger who observed some but not all relevant events, Wanda Robinson, a digital evidence manager at WMATA, and Metro Transit Police Department ("MTPD") Officer John Ubiera. Neither Ms. Robinson nor Officer Ubiera personally witnessed the conduct the trial court found constituted the charged offenses. The government did not call as a witness Kevin Young, the complainant. Mr. Davidson was the sole defense witness.

On November 6, 2023, the trial court found Mr. Davidson guilty of both charged offenses, concluding, inter alia, that, although Mr. Davidson subjectively feared imminently bodily harm, the government had proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Davidson was not acting in self-defense because, the trial court

¹ "R." refers to the record on appeal. "Tr." refers to transcript by date of proceeding, all occurring in 2023.

concluded, that belief was objectively unreasonable, and that Mr. Davidson was—for the purposes of the offense conduct—the "aggressor," based on an thirty-five-second break in what the trial court characterized as a "fight," for a period "two-on-one" against Mr. Davidson. 11/6 Tr. 10-11, 18-19. The trial court sentenced Mr. Davidson to 60 days of incarceration, execution of sentence suspended as to all, in favor of one year of probation with special conditions. 11/6 Tr. 35; R. 13. This timely appeal followed. R. 14.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 1, 2023, Mr. Davidson, along with then-co-defendant Alexis Allen,² was charged by information with one count of simple assault in violation of D.C. Code § 22-404 and one count of attempted possession of a prohibited weapon ("PPW") (shod foot) in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4514(b), -1803, based on events alleged to have occurred on March 31, 2023 against Kevin Young. R. 1. After arraignment,³ Mr. Davidson's release,⁴ and several status hearings,⁵ Mr. Davidson rejected a plea offer, and the case was set for trial. 7/8 Tr.; 7/18 Tr.

² A co-defendant, Alexis Allen, was also charged with the same offenses Superior Court case number 2023 CMD 1955, also against Kevin Young. Allen pled guilty pursuant to a plea agreement with the United States. 6/14 Tr. 12. Neither party called Mr. Allen as a witness at Mr. Davidson's trial.

 $^{^{3}}$ 4/1 Tr.

⁴ R. 4.

⁵ 5/9 Tr.; 5/18 Tr.; 6/14 Tr.; 7/18 Tr. Mr. Davidson briefly retained attorney Nabeel Kibria Esq., R. 9, whose somewhat unusual later motion for leave to withdraw as counsel the trial court granted. R. 10-11. In so doing, the trial court reappointed the

Claribelisse Colon Colon

On October 24, 2023, the parties appeared for a non-jury trial before the Honorable Deborah Israel. After the government's opening statement,⁶ the United States first called Claribelisse Colon Colon ("Ms. Colon"). Ms. Colon testified that on March 31, 2023, while on a Metro train, "a fight ended up erupting... between three individuals," a "fight" Ms. Colon "didn't notice until [she] heard it." 10/24 Tr. 17 (9-15). While "sitting, like, three seats away from them," with her "back... towards... the three individuals," "speaking... was getting louder and louder" before Ms. Colon "heard noise, commotion, punching, movements, and people started getting up and moving." 10/24 Tr. 17 (16-24). After Ms. Colon "got up and moved[,] [a]t some point, [she] started recording." 10/24 Tr. 18 (2-3). Ms. Colon characterized what she recorded as "the fight," which she recorded on a cell phone "[j]ust right in front of where [she] was sitting at." 10/24 Tr. 18 (11-16).

When asked how "the fight" ended, Ms. Colon testified that "at some point they got separated," a man wearing blue "kind of crawled outside of the Metro," and that "the other gentleman was like, looking for [his] stuff, frantic, and hit the other

undersigned to represent Mr. Davidson in the Superior Court, a request made by Mr. Davidson.

⁶ After the government's opening statement suggested an issue of duplicity to Mr. Davidson, the government clarified that the alleged conduct that formed the basis of both charged offenses was alleged kicking, not punching the government referred to in its opening statement. 10/24 Tr. 14.

gentleman that was already down on the floor." 10/24 Tr. 19. Returning to the question posed, Ms. Colon testified that she was "not sure how exactly[;] [i]t just stopped." 10/24 Tr. 19 (7-8). At that time, Ms. Colon testified, "a gentleman in... gray was punching the gentleman in the green or yellow vest," who was "on the floor" and not punching back. 10/24 Tr. 19-20. The United States moved into evidence a thirty-six-second portion of the video Ms. Colon took on her phone, ultimately without objection. 10/24 Tr. 20-26; Gov't Ex. 1. After the events depicted in government exhibit 1, Ms. Colon provided the video to the police and was driven home by an officer. 10/24 Tr. 26-27.

On cross-examination, Ms. Colon agreed that there were events that occurred before "the fight" depicted in the video she recorded and that "the man in the blue was punching the man in the gray... while the man in the yellow was holding the man in the gray." 10/24 Tr. 28-29. After some confusion, Ms. Colon agreed that what was ultimately admitted without sound as defense exhibit 2 was the entire video she recorded and provided to police on March 31, 2023. 10/24 Tr. 35-43. Through Ms. Colon, Mr. Davidson moved into evidence as defense exhibit 3 a video in which Ms. Colon was visible, which Ms. Colon agreed, at minimum, showed "the man in the blue... kicking something" near "the man in the yellow." Ms. Colon did not know whether the man in the blue was "actually kicking the man in the yellow,"

because, while the man in the yellow was "right [t]here," in Ms. Colon's recollection, "the man in the gray [w]as also there." 10/24 Tr. 44-48.

On redirect examination, Ms. Colon testified that when "the man in the yellow" was "involved in the three that were fighting," he "he had his arms wrapped around the gentleman with the gray, but could not "say whether [the man in the yellow] was trying to pull [the gentleman with the gray] away or if he was holding on to him, but he wasn't letting go of him, and I don't know why." 10/24 Tr. 51. Ms. Colon also testified that "the other gentleman was -- just kept punching the guy in the gray, and the guy in the gray was trying to defend himself while the guy in the yellow was holding on to the guy in the gray." 10/24 Tr. 52.

MTPD Officer John Ubiera

The government next called MTPD Officer John Ubiera. 10/24 Tr. 55. Officer Ubiera testified that on March 31, 2023, at about 6:30 pm, he went to the Benning Road Metro Station for a report of a "fight aboard a train." 10/24 Tr. 57 (2-8). When he arrived at "the car where the fight was reported to be in," Officer Ubiera "saw the gentleman sitting to [his] left [in court] walking out of the train car," whom he "attempted to stop," but "could no longer" do so because he saw "two other individuals," one of whom "was assaulting the other." 10/24 Tr. 57 (11-25). Officer

⁷ Officer Ubiera identified Mr. Davidson in court without objection as a person he arrested on March 31, 2023. 10/24 Tr. 59 (6-12).

Ubiera testified that the man he at first "attempted to stop," Mr. Davidson, was wearing gray, and that Officer Ubiera arrested three people that day; Mr. Davidson, a man "wearing an orange construction-type vest and a blue jacket," and a man "wearing... a yellow... construction-type vest." 10/24 Tr. 59-60. Officer Ubiera also testified that, in addition to wearing gray, Mr. Davidson was wearing "jeans and like, construction-style boots." 10/25 Tr. 68 (5-8). 8 Two people were "fighting" inside the train when Officer Ubiera arrived, wearing orange and blue and yellow, respectively. 10/24 Tr. 61. More specifically "one" of the two men in an orange vest and blue jacket and "yellow construction-type jacket," "was on the ground, and the other one... kept going from the door back to assaulting the person that was on the ground and back to the door." 10/25 Tr. 69 (15-24). Officers detained the person in the blue jacket and orange vest, who had been "actively assaulting someone" in Officer Ubiera's presence and Mr. Davidson, and other officers "went to attend to the person that was on the ground." 10/25 Tr. 70-71. Without objection, the government moved into evidence a photo taken "of the person who was in the yellow jacket," taken on the Metro platform. 10/25 Tr. 71-72. The person wearing yellow "went with the medics," and the man wearing blue and Mr. Davidson were taken to the Sixth District police station. 10/25 Tr. 73-74.

⁸ Officer Ubiera's testimony was taken out of turn because the prosecutor had difficulty timely locating video it wished to use to impeach Officer Ubiera. 10/24 Tr. 61-71.

On cross-examination, Officer Ubiera agreed that when he arrived at the scene, the man in the blue jacket and orange vest was assaulting the man in yellow by repeatedly kicking him. 10/25 Tr. 75-76. Officer Ubiera testified that Mr. Davidson was taken to the hospital on March 31, 2023, and, after initially denying that this was the case and being confronted with a photograph of Mr. Davidson⁹ and his own radio transmissions from March 31, 10 agreed that Mr. Davidson had a laceration on his forehead that day, which Officer Ubiera referred to as a "major laceration." 10/25 Tr. 76-84. Officer Ubiera did not see Mr. Davidson interact with either of the two other men arrested. 10/25 Tr. 77 (7-13). Officer Ubiera agreed that he did not handle what he described on direct examination as "construction-style boots," that he did not know the brand of what he believed to be boots, and did not know what the footwear was made of. 10/26 Tr. 5.

On redirect examination, Officer Ubiera testified that Mr. Davidson was not taken directly to the hospital from the Metro station. 10/26 Tr. 19 (6-8).

Wanda Robinson (WMATA)

The government next called Wanda Robinson, the manager of the "Digital Evidence Unit" at WMATA, who testified that she was the custodian of records for WMATA and that her duties included "[s]upervising a staff of both analysts and

⁹ This photograph was admitted into evidence as defense exhibit 4.

¹⁰ This radio run was identified as defense exhibit 5 but not moved into evidence.

trained technicians that recover, research, and preserve video evidence." 10/24 Tr. 76-77. Ms. Robinson testified that, in response to a subpoena, she "reviewed certain" WMATA records," and identified what was then marked for identification as government exhibit 2 as "recording that was downloaded by one of my technicians regarding an incident." 10/24 Tr. 77-78 (12-3). Ms. Robinson also agreed that government exhibit 2 was "kept in the regular course of business," that it was "WMATA's regular course of business to record and save these videos," and that "this video [was] made at the time it was recorded or soon thereafter." 10/24 Tr. 78 (4-12). When Mr. Davidson objected on hearsay grounds, in response to a question about how government exhibit 2 was actually "obtained" and Ms. Robinson's testimony that a "[t]echnician actually went out, pulled it, reported it, brought it back, downloaded, and preserved it," the trial court overruled the objection at that time. 10/24 Tr. 78-79. Ms. Robinson testified that government exhibit 2 is kept "in a locked evidence room," and used for "safety and... other administrative investigations." 10/24 Tr. 80 (5-10).

When the United States then sought to move government exhibit 2 into evidence, Mr. Davidson objected on authentication grounds, arguing that the business records exception is an exception to the rule against hearsay, not a basis for authentication. 10/24 Tr. 80-81. The trial court overruled the objection. 10/24 Tr. 81-82. Finally (on direct examination), Ms. Robinson testified that "this video in

particular"; i.e., government exhibit 2; was "pulled" because "[w]e received a request to have it pulled and preserved." 10/24 Tr. 85 (5-8).

On cross-examination, Ms. Robinson testified that: 1) she was not present on the train car during the events depicted in defense exhibit 2, 2) she did not personally download the video that constituted government exhibit 2, 3) she was not present when anyone else downloaded the video, and 4) the way in which she knew that the person who did preserve the video that was government exhibit 2 was because that person told her so. 10/24 Tr. 86-88. Based on these facts, Mr. Davidson renewed his prior authentication and hearsay objections and additionally objected on Confrontation Clause grounds. 10/24 Tr. 88 (4-6). The court then sustained Mr. Davidson's hearsay and Confrontation objections. 10/24 Tr. 89-90. As the trial court observed, "a defendant can't ask questions of a file cabinet," and "[t]he fact that there is a business record doesn't address the Sixth Amendment at all." Rephrased another way, the trial court stated:

I understand defense counsel to be saying, don't we have a confrontation clause problem here? We have the boss. We don't have the tech. I can't cross-examine the boss because the boss didn't do it. That's what we just established clearly in the evidence.

10/24 Tr. 91 (20-25).

During a lengthy colloquy, the trial court suggested that it was nonetheless still overruling Mr. Davidson's authentication objection, which Mr. Davidson

summarized as "the business record is an exception to the rule against hearsay[,]... not a basis for authentication." 10/24 Tr. 89-98. The court then recessed the trial until the following day to give it and the government an opportunity to research the issues involved. 10/24 Tr. 98.

Final Ruling Regarding Government Exhibit 2

The following day, the trial court heard argument from the parties regarding the hearsay and constitutional issues. The government argued that "the defense is making an argument that the act of pulling the videos for prosecution... requires confrontation," and citing *United States v. Clotaire*, 963 F.3d 1288, 1296 (11th Cir. 2020), argued that this was incorrect. 10/25 Tr. 5-7. Mr. Davidson reiterated that the hearsay statements in question were those "from the technician to Ms. Robinson about what [technician] did in pulling this video," and, citing *Carrington v. District of Columbia*, 77 A.3d 999 (D.C. 2013), and underscored that, as this court held in *Burns*, 11 "forensic evidence is not exempt from the requirements of the [C]onfrontation [C]lause." 10/25 Tr. 8-10.

And so we heard testimony from Ms. Robinson that the only reason that this video was -- whatever the word we're going to use here -- was downloaded, collected, put into the form that it was, was in response to the subpoena.

So the statement that the technician is making about the manner in which he did that, the primary purpose of that statement is to prosecute Mr. Davidson. This is not

12

¹¹ Burns v. United States, 235 A.3d 758 (D.C. 2020).

something he was saying, oh, this is what I'm regularly doing in my job. This is, they got a subpoena in this case, and in response to that, certain things happened, and one of those statements is about what the technician claimed to have done.

So just as in *Carrington*, where the defense was unable to cross-examine about how the evidence was handled before the testing, whether there were proper procedures employed, I can't do that with respect to the technician, again, as Your Honor pointed out, because the technician is not here. So the hearsay is the technician's statements about what he or she did.

And for all those reasons, Your Honor, this needs to be excluded under the [C]onfrontation [C]lause in my view.

10/25 Tr. 11-12.

Relying on, inter alia, *Bynum v. United States*, the trial court, reversing its prior ruling, overruled Mr. Davidson's Confrontation objection, concluding that "the video footage from WMATA is not testimonial and [therefore] does not infringe on the defendant's rights under the confrontation clause." 10/25 Tr. 15-16.

The WMATA videos are created in real time, in the ordinary course, as part of WMATA's administrative processes. Perhaps for safety reasons. I don't know, but I don't need to know. I only need to know WMATA does this on a regular basis. This isn't a video that they created.

The only other question then really, with respect to that, would be is the fact that a subpoena was issued and that they acted in response to a subpoena, does that create a situation in which the materials are then converted to testimonial? This Court finds that it does not. Not all materials that are produced in response to a subpoena automatically become or ever were testimonial. The

question is whether they are testimonial at the time they are created. The fact that someone is under a duty and an obligation to collect them and preserve them does not make preservation testimonial.

The witness can be cross-examined in this case on the procedures, the policies, and the practices. In this Court's view, this case is closer to *Bynum* than it is to *Burns*. There are no lab tests. There's no testing of any kind. There's no evaluation to be done. There's no mental processes like there would be in an autopsy...

10/25 Tr. 17-18.

After Mr. Davidson drew the trial court's attention back to his hearsay objection¹²—"the statement[s] from the technician to Ms. Robinson"—the trial court found that such statements were "not hearsay, and [were] part of business records for the custodian of records, who the defendant has an opportunity to cross-examine, for the custodian of records to say here's the method, and here's what we do, and here's how we brought them." 10/25 Tr. 14-19.

Wanda Robinson (Resumed)

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