BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

.....

No. 23-CM-939

Clerk of the Court Received 07/22/2024 06:37 PM Filed 07/22/2024 06:37 PM

DWAYNE DAVIDSON,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN

- * DYLAN M. ALUISE D.C. Bar # 90018755 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Dylan.Aluise@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2023-CMD-1954

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

IV. Any Error in Admitting the Limited Testimony That Davidson Challenges Was Harmless Beyond a Reasonable Doubt.

Even if the limited testimony that Davidson challenges were admitted in violation of the rule against hearsay or the Confrontation Clause, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Davidson does not—and cannot—argue that the technician's statements to Robinson about the administrative tasks he completed had

certificate attesting that she searched for and could not locate a given record is testimonial).

Here, however, the "primary purpose" of the non-testifying technician's statement was not to create evidence against Davidson—the footage had already been created. Rather, the statement merely confirmed to his supervisor that he had completed administrative tasks she assigned to him. In this context, an analogy can be drawn to the Supreme Court's rationale excluding most business records from the definition of testimonial hearsay: the statements' primary purpose relates to the "administration of an entity's affairs," and not "establishing or proving some fact at trial." Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 324; see also Smith, 144 S. Ct. at 1802 (noting that to be testimonial, the "primary purpose" of the statement "must have a focus on court," and suggesting that certain statements made in the administrative context to "facilitate internal review and quality control" might not qualify as testimonial) (cleaned up); United States v. Seregin, 568 Fed. App'x 711, 718 (11th Cir. 2014) (unpublished opinion) (a "custody receipt is not testimonial because its primary purpose is to document the seizure, identify the items seized, and the chain of custody of seized items") (citation omitted); United States v. (Bert) Johnson, 688 F.3d at 505 ("notations on [a] lab report . . . indicating when [a technician] checked [evidence] samples into and out of the lab" not testimonial) (cleaned up).

any impact at all in directly establishing that Davidson assaulted Young or attempted to possess a prohibited weapon. Rather, Davidson exclusively rests his claim on the far broader argument (Br. 35–36, 41–45) that it was the trial court's admission of Exhibit 2 that swayed the verdict. That claim therefore hinges on the role played by the limited testimony Davidson challenges vis-à-vis the foundation for admitting Exhibit 2.

But in the context of the whole record related to Exhibit 2, the limited testimony Davidson challenges hardly contributed to the foundation for its qualification as a business record. Moreover, other evidence, including the other video footage of the assault, and the substance of the surveillance footage itself left no doubt that Exhibit 2 was authentic footage capturing Davidson brutally stomping on Young's head. And any error was entirely obviated by Davidson's decision to not just elicit the same testimony on cross-examination but to expand upon it. For those reasons, any error admitting that testimony did not affect the basis for admitting Exhibit 2 and was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

For preserved claims, reversal based on evidence admitted in constitutional error is appropriate if the Court is satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that "the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." Williams v. United States, 858 A.2d 978, 981 (D.C. 2004) (quoting Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967)). For non-constitutional claims, evidentiary errors are harmless and not grounds for reversal if the Court can "say with fair assurance" that the error did not "substantially sway the jury's verdict." Jones, 263 A.3d at 460 (citing Kotteakos v. United States, 328 U.S. 750, 765 (1946)).

An evidentiary error may be "harmless" "beyond a reasonable doubt" when "properly admitted evidence . . . overwhelm[s]" the error and renders the "prejudicial effect" of the court's use of the improperly admitted evidence "insignificant by comparison." *Hagans v. United States*, 96 A.3d 1, 18 (D.C. 2014) (cleaned up). Factors that bear on the harmlessness of a constitutional error include the strength of the government's other evidence, whether it "material[ly]" affected a "critical" issue, whether it was at all "cumulative" of other evidence, and the extent to which the government "emphasized the erroneously

admitted evidence in its presentation of the case." *Id.* (cleaned up). Ultimately, reversal is not appropriate unless there is a "reasonable possibility the improper use at trial of the [improperly admitted evidence] contributed to [the defendant's] conviction[]." *Id.* at 22 (citation omitted).

To lay the foundation for the admissibility of a business record, the sponsoring party need only show that: (1) the record was "made at or near the time by—or from information transmitted by—someone with knowledge," (2) the record was "kept in the course of a regularly conducted activity" of an organization, and (3) "making the record was a regular practice of that activity." D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 43–I(a)(1)–(3); see Grimes v. United States, 252 A.3d 901, 914 (D.C. 2021). ¹⁷ Additionally, the trial court must be satisfied that the opposing party has "not show[n] that the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate a lack of trustworthiness." Super. Ct. Civ. R. 43–

¹⁷ If the business record contains hearsay and the party is seeking to admit it through the exception to the rule against hearsay for records of regularly recorded activity, the party must also show that the "original maker" of the hearsay statement "has personal knowledge of the information in the record or received the information from someone with such personal knowledge and who is acting in the regular course of business." *Grimes*, 252 A.3d at 914 (citation omitted); *see Clyburn v. District of Columbia*, 741 A.2d 395, 397–98 (D.C. 1999).

I(a)(5); see D.C. Code § 14–508(d). Once these criteria are satisfied, the record "shall be deemed authentic without further testimony as evidence." D.C. Code § 14–508(b). 18

This foundation can be laid by a records custodian or another qualified witness, either through live testimony or by certification. D.C. Code § 14–508(b); Super. Ct. Civ. R. 43–I(a)(4). But that witness need not have created the record, nor does he need to have knowledge of the record's contents or its accuracy. See Dutch v. United States, 997 A.2d 685, 689–91 (D.C. 2010); Meaders v. United States, 519 A.2d 1248, 1255–56 (D.C. 1986) (citations omitted). There is also no requirement that the sponsoring witness be involved in any way in the creation or retrieval of the record. See id. Rather, it is sufficient that the witness knows about the business's record-keeping system and can identify the record as one produced from that system. See id. This mirrors the federal practice under Fed. R. Evid. 803(6), which this Court has recognized to be an

¹⁸ This rule of automatic authentication in the context of admitting business records by certification logically applies with equal force when a party elects to have the custodian provide the same foundation through live testimony.

analogous business-records rule. See, e.g., Dutch, 997 A.2d at 689;

Meaders, 519 A.2d at 1255–56. 19

Laying the foundation for the admissibility of evidence is a low bar: the sponsoring party need only satisfy the judge that there is a "reasonable possibility" that the evidence is "what it purports to be." (Carlos) Johnson v. United States, 290 A.3d 500, 510 (D.C. 2023) (noting that this is not a "stringent" standard) (cleaned up). ²⁰ This threshold "merely requires" the proponent "to show that a jury reasonably could

¹⁹ See, e.g., In re Int'l Mgmt. Assocs., LLC, 781 F.3d at 1268 (Under Fed. R. Evid. 803(6), the "testifying witness does not need firsthand knowledge of the contents of the records, of their authors, or even of their preparation"; all that is required is "[s]omeone who is knowledgeable about the procedures used to create the alleged business records" being admitted.) (collecting cases); Thanongsinh v. Bd. of Educ., 462 F.3d 762, 777 (7th Cir. 2006) ("[T]he custodian need not be the individual who personally gather[ed]" the record nor "have individual knowledge of the particular corporate records"; she "need only be familiar with the company's recordkeeping practices.") (cleaned up); 5 Weinstein's Federal Evidence § 803.08 (2024) ("The witness need not have personal knowledge of the actual creation of the documents or have personally assembled the records.").

²⁰ Beyond the rule of automatic authentication for business records contained in D.C. Code § 14–508(b), evidence generally may also be authenticated circumstantially, including when its "nature and contents combined with the location of its discovery" supports a "reasonable possibility" that the "evidence relates to the crime charged." (Carlos) Johnson, 290 A.3d at 510–11 (citations omitted); see Dutch, 997 A.2d at 691 (citations omitted).

find the evidence to be genuine by a preponderance of the evidence." *Id.* (citation omitted). Once that low bar is cleared, the opposing party may challenge the "reliability" of the evidence, "minimize its importance," or argue its "meaning," but "these and similar other challenges go to the *weight* of the evidence — not to its *admissibility*." *Id.* (cleaned up) (emphasis in original). A trial court's "[d]ecision[] to admit or exclude evidence" is "highly discretionary" and is overturned on appeal "only upon a showing of grave abuse." *Id.* at 511 (citation omitted).

B. Admission of the Challenged Testimony Did Not Contribute Either to the Trial Court's Admission of Exhibit 2 or Verdict.

The limited testimony that Davidson challenges on appeal had a minimal impact, if at all, on the trial court's decision to admit Exhibit 2. To start, that testimony did not directly support any of the foundational criteria for admitting Exhibit 2 as a business record. *Cf. Grimes*, 252 A.3d at 914; D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 43–I(a)(1)–(3). Wholly apart from the challenged testimony, the government laid the foundation that: (1) Robinson was a qualified witness from her role supervising preservation of WMATA video evidence (10/24/23 Tr. 76–77); (2) WMATA creates records of surveillance video footage in its transit system in the

regular course of business for safety and administrative purposes (*id.* at 78, 80); ²¹ (3) WMATA's surveillance system creates these records of footage almost contemporaneously with the camera recording (*id.* at 78); and (4) Robinson recognized Exhibit 2 as surveillance footage recorded by WMATA in the regular course of business that was preserved in response to a government subpoena and kept in a locked evidence room (*id.* at 77–78, 80). That testimony alone was sufficient to establish that there was a "reasonable possibility" that Exhibit 2 was a WMATA business record and to authenticate it under the business-records rule. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 43–I(a)(1)–(3); *see* D.C. Code § 14–508(b). And, based on this foundation, the trial court appropriately exercised its discretion

²¹ Any suggestion by Davidson (e.g., Br. 35) that the trial court abused its discretion by admitting Exhibit 2 as a business record because it was created in anticipation of litigation is baseless. The testimony at trial and this Court's cases support the opposite conclusion. Robinson testified multiple times that this footage was created in the normal course of business, including in direct response to a question posed by the judge (10/24/23 78, 80; 10/25/23 Tr. 27). Moreover, contrary to the notion that WMATA surveillance footage is created in anticipation of criminal litigation, this Court has recognized that the "installation and maintenance by WMATA of a video recording device, the purpose of which was to ensure the safety of its bus passengers, was not a governmental function which would make WMATA a member of the prosecution team." Myers v. United States, 15 A.3d 688, 692 (D.C. 2011) (cleaned up).

to admit Exhibit 2 into evidence as an authenticated WMATA business record (10/24/23 Tr. 81–82).

Beyond this foundational testimony, the authenticity and reliability of Exhibit 2 were powerfully established by other evidence. Robinson testified extensively about the operation of WMATA's surveillance cameras, its process for collecting and preserving footage, and its quality control measures (10/25/23 Tr. 35–50). She also explained that the computer-generated file name of Exhibit 2 indicated that it captured events from March 31, 2023, at 6:20 p.m. (10/25/23 Tr. 52-64). And any lingering doubt about the authenticity, reliability, or relevance of Exhibit 2 would be extinguished by its contents. See (Carlos) Johnson, 290 A.3d at 510–11. The surveillance footage showed a fight between Davidson, Young, and Allen, which ended with Davidson kicking Young's face with his shod foot as Young lay defenseless on the floor of the Metro train (Exh. 2). That footage matched Cologne's firsthand account of the assault (10/24/23 Tr. 19–20). And it precisely replicated events captured by Cologne on her cellphone (Exh. 1), albeit from a different angle. The record in no way suggests that the trial court's decision to admit or weigh this obviously probative evidence was at all swayed by the limited testimony Davidson challenges.²² Indeed, that the trial court did not even reference the challenged testimony a single time when admitting Exhibit 2 into evidence or rendering its verdict underscores its inconsequence to the trial. *See Hagans*, 96 A.3d at 18–22.

Finally, even if the challenged testimony played some role in establishing the admissibility or reliability of Exhibit 2, the evidence Davidson himself elicited from Robinson on cross-examination rendered that testimony insignificant. As described above, the testimony Davidson elicited on cross-examination provided far more detail about the substance of Robinson's conversation with the technician than did her

_

²² Davidson argues (Br. 43–44) that the government did not sufficiently authenticate Exhibit 2 in large part because Robinson did not have personal knowledge of the events captured in the footage. That argument overlooks the rule of automatic authentication for business records. See D.C. Code § 14–508(b). And it ignores that the sponsoring witness for a business record need not be knowledgeable about its contents to authenticate it as a business record. See Dutch, 997 A.2d at 689–91; Meaders, 519 A.2d at 1255–56; see also n.19, supra. Moreover, the fact that the contents of Exhibit 2 so closely matched other evidence in the record, combined with Robinson's testimony about the footage having been stored in the locked evidence room further established Exhibit 2's authenticity. See (Carlos) Johnson, 290 A.3d at 510–11. As the trial court correctly recognized, the arguments that Davidson advances on appeal go to the weight and not the admissibility of Exhibit 2 (10/24/23 Tr. 81–82).

testimony on direct examination (10/25/23 Tr. 27–29). Thus, to the extent that the technician's actions played any role in the trial court's evaluation of how much weight it should place on Exhibit 2, it was Robinson's testimony on cross-examination that far more powerfully and directly established what steps the technician took to preserve the evidence. And, by comparison, that testimony rendered the challenged direct-examination testimony not only cumulative but entirely trivial. See Hagans, 96 A.3d at 20 (evidentiary error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt when challenged evidence compared to entire record "added nothing of consequence" and was "cumulative at best").

In light of the overwhelming other evidence establishing the admissibility and reliability of Exhibit 2 and the insignificant and cumulative nature of the limited testimony that Davidson challenges, there is "no reasonable possibility" that any error materially contributed to the trial court's discretionary decision to admit Exhibit 2 or to convict Davidson. *Hagans*, 96 A.3d at 22. Any error in admitting that testimony was thus harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

V. There Was Sufficient Evidence to Prove Attempted PPW From Davidson Kicking Young in the Face with a Boot-Clad Foot and to Disprove Davidson's Claim of Self-Defense.

Davidson finally claims (Br. 45–49) that there was insufficient evidence to (1) prove PPW (shod foot), and (2) disprove his claim of self-defense. Both arguments are meritless.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

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